RECEIVED

07-11-2018

STATE OF WISCONSIN IN THE SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2018AP000203-W

STATE ex rel. Ezequiel Lopez-Quintero,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

Michael A. Dittman, Warden of Columbia Correctional Institution,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Appeal from an *Ex Parte* Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus by the Court of Appeals,
District II

OPENING BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

Gregory W. Wiercioch State Bar No. 1091075 Attorney for Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner

Victor Pelaez Law Student

ISSUE PRESENTED

Can the Court of Appeals apply an irrebuttable presumption of prejudice and deny *ex parte* a sufficiently pled petition for writ of habeas corpus solely for untimeliness, under Wis. Stat. § 809.51(2)?

Ezequiel Lopez-Quintero filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in the Court of Appeals, asking that court to reinstate his appellate deadlines based on trial counsel's ineffectiveness in failing to file a Notice of Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief.

Relying on State ex rel. Smalley v. Morgan, 211 Wis. 2d 795, 565 N.W.2d 805 (Ct. App. 1997), abrogated on other grounds by State ex rel. Coleman v. McCaughtry, 2006 WI 49, 290 Wis. 2d 352, 714 N.W.2d 900, the Court of Appeals found Mr. Lopez-Quintero's petition untimely, presumed prejudice based on the untimeliness, and denied the petition ex parte without reaching the merits of his claim. App. 1.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Court's decision to accept review reflects that oral argument and publication are warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 7, 2008, after a six-day trial, Ezequiel Lopez-Quintero was convicted of First-Degree Intentional Homicide with a Dangerous Weapon. On April 9, 2008, the circuit court sentenced him to life in prison without release to extended supervision. App. 3 (Habeas Petition, Ex. A: Judgment of Conviction). That same day, Mr. Lopez-Quintero filed a Notice of Right to Seek Postconviction Relief (Notice of Right), on which he unequivocally indicated that he wanted to seek postconviction relief. App. 3 (Habeas Petition, Ex. B: Notice of Right).

Mr. Lopez-Quintero's trial attorneys, Frederick Cohn and Christopher Cohen, did not file a Notice of Intent to Seek Postconviction Relief (Notice of Intent) within the 20-day statutory deadline following sentencing. See Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(b). Nor did trial counsel request an extension of time to file the Notice of Intent. See Wis. Stat. § 809.82(2)(a).

Mr. Lopez-Quintero had hired Cohn and Cohen, private lawyers based in Illinois. Attorney Cohen had been a member of the Wisconsin Bar since 1986. Attorney Cohn, who was not a member of the Wisconsin Bar, appeared *pro hac vice*.

At the conclusion of the sentencing hearing, Attorney Cohn asked the circuit court for clarification regarding postconviction procedures:

Mr. Cohn: [W]e have filed a motion for a new

trial already.

The Court: Yes, sir.

Mr. Cohn: Would that relieve us of filing the

notice of intent to proceed to

appeal?

The Court: No. I think you still have to file

that.

Mr. Cohn: Within 20 days?

The Court: Right.

App. 3 (Habeas Petition, Ex. C: Sentencing Transcript at 57). The circuit court then provided Attorney Cohn with the Notice of Right form and asked counsel to review the form with Mr. Lopez-Quintero in the courtroom immediately after the sentencing hearing. *Id.* (Sentencing Transcript at 58). Attorney Cohn assured the court that he would get the Notice of Intent "filed within 20 days." *Id.* (Sentencing Transcript at 60).

Two months later, at the conclusion of the hearing on the motion for new trial on June 10, 2008, Attorney Cohn sought to represent Mr. Lopez-Quintero on appeal. Attorney Cohn stated that, given the difficulty of the case and his familiarity with it, he should be appointed to handle the appeal. App. 3 (Habeas Petition, Ex. D: Motion for New Trial Hearing Transcript at 46). Notably, the 20-day deadline to file the Notice of Intent had expired on April 29, 2008, nearly a month-and-a-half earlier. The circuit court ordered Attorney Cohn to continue to represent Mr. Lopez-Quintero "until the time a decision whether to appeal is made." Id. (Motion for New Trial Hearing at 47); see App. 3 (Habeas Petition, Ex. E: Affidavit of (Court's handwritten order: Indigency) Frederick Cohn appointed to initiate appeal if desired."). Because Mr. Lopez-Quintero could no longer afford to retain Attorney Cohn as counsel, the circuit court found that Mr. Lopez-Quintero was indigent and waived the payment of service and filing fees, including the preparation of the trial transcript. Id. (Habeas Petition, Ex. E: Affidavit of Indigency); see id. (Habeas Petition, Ex. D: Motion for New Trial Hearing at 47–48) ("[S]o if he is indigent, the court certainly would provide a copy of the transcript to you without cost, and then a decision as to whether he should appeal or not can be made."). Trial counsel never filed a Notice of Intent or sought an extension to file one.

Mr. Lopez-Quintero did not know about trial counsel's fundamental procedural error or the deleterious consequences of such inaction. He thought that by indicating his desire to pursue postconviction relief on the Notice of Right, trial counsel would initiate the process.

On May 1, 2010, less than two years after the circuit court denied the motion for new trial, Mr. Lopez-Quintero submitted an application for assistance to the Frank J. Remington Center at the University of Wisconsin Law School. The Remington Center rejected his application on October 13, 2011.

Two years later, on July 23, 2012, Mr. Lopez-Quintero submitted a second application to the Remington Center. The Remington Center accepted his case, but was unable to assign a law student to work on it until July 26, 2013. For the next several years, a series of law students, supervised by a clinical professor, looked into Mr. Lopez-Quintero's case. Their efforts were hampered by their inability to obtain the court reporter's transcripts. Because trial counsel did not file a Notice of Intent, copies of the transcripts were not in the hands of any appellate attorneys.¹ Reviewing the court reporter's voluminous transcripts on file at the Kenosha County Courthouse proved inadequate and time-consuming. The Remington Center eventually attempted to obtain a copy of the transcripts at no cost. Those efforts were unsuccessful.

_

¹ Of note, the court reporters prepared transcripts of the trial, apparently in anticipation of an appeal. See https://wcca.wicourts.gov/caseDetail.html;jsessionid=20A3258A 2AB4A8EE49D4C0DDC5A60BE8.render4?caseNo=2007CF000 535&countyNo=30&mode=details (last visited July 5, 2018); see also

https://wscca.wicourts.gov/appealHistory.xsl;jsessionid=81A347 9D20340A2A9A91E696570289ED?caseNo=2008XX000997&cac heId=092528492F575359FE9AC6BE612C23A0&recordCount= 2&offset=1&linkOnlyToForm=false&sortDirection=DESC (last visited July 5, 2018) (court's reporter's motion for extension to file transcripts).

On February 1, 2018, the Remington Center filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus asking the Court of Appeals to reinstate Mr. Lopez-Quintero's appellate deadlines. See App. 3 (Habeas Petition). The petition explained the passage of time in filing by noting that Mr. Lopez-Quintero is a monolingual Spanish speaker, has a limited education (completing the equivalent of only one year of middle school in Mexico), and was unfamiliar with the criminal justice system in the United States. *Id.* at 5–6. Consequently, Mr. Lopez-Quintero relied entirely on trial counsel, who did not speak Spanish, to explain—through interpreters—the legal process to him. Id. previous encounters with the justice system did not expose him to postconviction procedure. Id. at 6. Mr. Lopez-Quintero remained uninformed about what would happen after he indicated his desire to appeal his conviction and sentence on the Notice of Right. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals denied *ex parte* Mr. Lopez-Quintero's habeas petition on February 12, 2018. App. 1. Focusing solely on the untimeliness of the filing, the Court of Appeals found that, "[a]lthough Lopez-Quintero's stated limitations can account for some delay in this case, it [sic] cannot account for over nine years of delay." *Id.* at 2–3. The Court of Appeals denied a motion for reconsideration on March 6, 2018. App. 2. On June 11, 2018, this Court granted Mr. Lopez-Quintero's Petition for Review.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In State ex rel. Smalley v. Morgan, 211 Wis. 2d 795, 565 N.W.2d 805 (Ct. App. 1997), abrogated on other grounds by State ex rel. Coleman v. McCaughtry, 2006 WI 49, 290 Wis. 2d 352, 714 N.W.2d 900, the Court of Appeals grafted a "prompt and speedy" pleading requirement onto Wis. Stat. § 809.51(1) and then created an *irrebuttable* presumption by denying the petition without ordering the State to respond. Wis. Stat. § 809.51(1) expressly sets out four pleading requirements that a petition for writ of habeas corpus must contain. Smalley found that the petitioner did not allege facts demonstrating that he "sought prompt and speedy relief," nor did he allege any disability preventing him from making such a showing sooner. Smalley, 211 Wis. 2d at 802. Smalley justified the ex parte denial of the petition by presuming the State would be prejudiced in responding after an eight-year filing delay. Id. at 803.

Smalley grants the Court of Appeals unbridled discretion to deny habeas petitions ex parte under Wis. Stat. § 809.51(2) for perceived untimeliness alone. The Court of Appeals applies a presumption that the length of the delay prejudices the State's ability to respond. The ex parte nature of the process makes the presumption irrebuttable and renders laches obsolete.

The *Smalley* presumption relieves the State of its unremarkable burden to prove prejudice attributable to an unreasonable delay as an element of the affirmative defense of laches. This practice squarely contradicts this Court's holding in *Coleman* that the Court of Appeal may not presume prejudice based on the length of the delay. This Court must

order the Court of Appeals to disavow this *ex parte* practice as inconsistent with *Coleman* and incompatible with the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 809.51(1).

In State ex rel. Coleman v. McCaughtry, 2006 WI 49, 290 Wis. 2d 352, 714 N.W.2d 900, decided nearly a decade after Smalley, this Court held that the Court of Appeals had erred when it presumed the State was prejudiced by the petitioner's 17-year delay in filing his habeas petition. Id. at ¶ 37. Coleman explained that Smalley had based its ex parte denial on the petition's untimeliness under equitable principles of habeas, rather than on the affirmative defense of laches. Id. at ¶ 25. However, Coleman never explained why the Court of Appeals could presume prejudice in the former, but not in the latter, context.

Mr. Lopez-Quintero, an inmate sentenced to life without parole for first-degree murder, filed a habeas petition to reinstate the appellate deadlines waived by his trial counsel's ineffectiveness. The petition clearly met the four pleading requirements expressly set out in Wis. Stat. § 809.51(1). Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals dismissed the petition for untimeliness without addressing the merits or ordering the State to respond. The Court of Appeals applied the *Smalley* presumption of prejudice because of a nine-year delay in filing. App. 1.

Nothing material distinguishes Mr. Lopez-Quintero's habeas petition from Coleman's. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals did not require Coleman to prove timeliness—despite a 17-year delay in filing. The Court of Appeals ordered the State to respond, and the State affirmatively raised the

defense of laches. *Coleman* left the *Smalley* presumption intact because the State did not argue that Coleman's petition was untimely based on habeas principles. *Coleman*, 290 Wis. 2d 352, ¶ 25 n.6.

Smalley created a "prompt and speedy" pleading requirement that is not found in the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 809.51(1). The Court of Appeals arbitrarily applied the "prompt and speedy" requirement and the irrebuttable presumption of prejudice to Mr. Lopez-Quintero's habeas petition. The denial of a habeas petition ex parte for untimeliness alone if the petition meets the express pleading requirements of Wis. Stat. § 809.51(1) violates the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 8 (Clause 4) of the Wisconsin Constitution. To avoid these constitutional issues, this Court should find Smalley's interpretation of § 809.51(1) insupportable.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This case requires the Court to interpret Wis. 809.51(1) and Stats. 809.51(2). Statutory interpretation presents a question of law that this Court reviews de novo, while benefitting from the analyses of the court of appeals and circuit court. State v. Ziegler, 2012 WI 73, ¶ 37, 342 Wis. 2d 256, 816 N.W.2d 238; In re Commitment of Alger, 2015 WI 3, ¶ 21, 360 Wis. 2d 193, 858 N.W.2d 346 (citing Ziegler). This Court applies a de novo standard of review to legal issues arising in the context of a petition for writ of habeas corpus. State ex rel. Marberry v. Macht, 2003 WI 79, ¶ 8, 262 Wis. 2d 720, 665 N.W.2d 155.

ARGUMENT

THE COURT OF APPEALS MAY NOT APPLY AN**IRREBUTTABLE** PRESUMPTION OF PREJUDICE AND DENY EX PARTE A SUFFICIENTLY PLED HABEAS PETITION FOR UNTIMELINESS; INSTEAD, THE COURT OF APPEALS MUST ORDER A RESPONSE FROM THE STATE. WHICH **MAY RAISE** THE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE OF LACHES IF IT CONCLUDES THE **DELAY** IS UNREASONABLE AND PREJUDICIAL.

A. The plain language of Wis. Stat. § 809.51(1) does not contain a "prompt and speedy" pleading requirement.

In interpreting a statute, courts primarily focus on the statutory language. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Ct. for Dane Cty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 44, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. As this Court explained:

[S]tatutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results.

Id. at ¶ 46. When the statutory language manifests a clear meaning, the court's inquiry ceases and the court applies that meaning. *Lincoln Sav. Bank, S.A. v. DOR*, 215 Wis. 2d 430, 443, 573 N.W.2d 522 (1998).

Subsection (1) of Wis. Stat. § 809.51 sets out four specific elements that a petition for writ of habeas corpus must contain:

- (a) A statement of the issues presented by the controversy;
- (b) A statement of the facts necessary to an understanding of the issues;
- (c) The relief sought; and
- (d) The reasons why the court should take jurisdiction.

This Court has recognized that this provision "governs the contents of the petition and supporting memorandum..." State ex rel. Universal Processing Servs. of Wisconsin, LLC v. Circuit Court of Milwaukee Cty., 2017 WI 26, ¶ 39, 374 Wis. 2d 26, 892 N.W.2d 267. To satisfy these elements, "[a] habeas petition must contain a statement of the legal issues and a sufficient statement of facts that bear on those legal issues, which if found to be true, would entitle the petitioner to relief." Coleman, 290 Wis. 2d 352, ¶ 18. These pleading requirements are clear and unremarkable; the language of Ş 809.51(1) unambiguous. Under these circumstances, this Court need not consult "extrinsic sources of interpretation, such as legislative history," *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46, nor conduct "a search for ambiguity." *Id.* at ¶ 47 (internal quotation marks omitted).

Subsection (1) of Wis. Stat. § 809.51 must be read in conjunction with subsection (2). Context is important in determining the meaning of a statute. Id. at ¶ 46. The relevant portion of subsection (2) of § 809.51 states: "The court may deny the petition ex parte or may order the respondents to file a response

with a supporting memorandum...." Subsection (1) places limits on the authority of the Court of Appeals to deny *ex parte* a habeas petition that fails to contain the listed pleading requirements. It would produce absurd and unreasonable results to allow a court to summarily deny a petition under subsection (2) because the petitioner did not include a pleading requirement that is not expressly listed as a requirement in subsection (1). The Wisconsin Legislature would have listed a "prompt and speedy" pleading requirement as the fifth element of a habeas petition if it intended to include it.

The *Smalley* court applied no principles of statutory construction before it held that Wis. Stat. § 809.51(1) requires a habeas petitioner to show that he or she sought "prompt and speedy" relief. Instead, the *Smalley* court reached this interpretation of the statute through a convoluted analysis that began with a discussion of laches, segued into the purpose of habeas corpus, and ended with an analogy based on *Escalona-Naranjo*, 185 Wis. 2d 168, 517 N.W.2d 157 (1994), and restrictions on motions filed under Wis. Stat. § 974.06. *See Smalley*, 211 Wis. 2d at 800–03.

After finding the petitioner's delay in filing his petition unreasonable, *id.* at 800–01, the *Smalley* court quoted *State ex rel. Wohlfahrt v. Bodette*, 95 Wis. 2d 130, 133, 289 N.W.2d 366, 367 (Ct. App. 1980), for the proposition that "the purpose of habeas corpus is to provide a prompt and effective judicial remedy to those who are illegally restrained of their personal liberty." *Id.* at 801.

Smalley then radically transformed the "prompt and effective judicial remedy" of habeas corpus—

intended to be liberally construed as a shield against unconstitutional government oppression—into a burden of proof for timeliness imposed on the petitioner, who must demonstrate that he or she sought "prompt and *speedy* relief." *Smalley*, 211 Wis. 2d at 802 (emphasis added). *Smalley* did no more than cite Wis. Stat. § 809.51(1) in support of its conclusion that "[s]uch a showing is required." *Id.* In a footnote, the Court of Appeals explained:

RULE 809.51(1), STATS., states that a petition must contain a statement of the issues and facts of the controversy, the relief sought and the reasons why the court should take jurisdiction. Smalley's petition does not convince us that further proceedings are necessary on the petition. See RULE 809.51(2).

Id. at 802 n.7. Beyond this conclusory statement, *Smalley* provided no statutory interpretation that would explain where the court found the "prompt and speedy" requirement in the plain language of § 809.51(1).

By restricting habeas corpus to "prompt and speedy" filers, *Smalley* ignored the noble purpose and broad design of habeas corpus that *Wohlfarht* and the United States Supreme Court have recognized. A portion of the paragraph in *Wohlfarht* that contains the language *Smalley* quoted reads:

Habeas corpus comes from our common law. It is a great constitutional privilege. Its function is to provide a prompt and effective judicial remedy to those who are illegally restrained of their personal liberty. As a remedial statute, it is to be liberally construed.

Wohlfahrt, 95 Wis. 2d at 133 (footnotes omitted).

Wohlfarht itself cited Peyton v. Rowe, 391 U.S. 54 (1968), for the quoted passage Smalley relied on. Wohlfarht, 95 Wis. 2d at 133 n.10. Peyton recognized that:

[The writ of habeas corpus] is not now and never has been a static, narrow, formalistic remedy; its scope has grown to achieve its grand purpose—the protection of individuals against erosion of their right to be free from wrongful restraints upon their liberty.

Id. at 66 (internal quotation marks omitted). Wohlfarht also cited Fay v. Noia, 372 U.S. 391 (1963), in support of the same passage Smalley quoted. Wohlfarht, 95 Wis. 2d at 133 n.10. In Fay, the Supreme Court extolled the importance of the writ of habeas corpus, noting that:

[I]ts history is inextricably intertwined with the growth of fundamental rights of personal liberty. For its function has been to provide a prompt and efficacious remedy for whatever society deems to be intolerable restraints. Its root principle is that in a civilized society, government must always be accountable to the judiciary for a man's imprisonment: if the imprisonment cannot be shown to conform with the fundamental requirements of law, the individual is entitled to his immediate release.

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