RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 08-30-2018

IN SUPREME COUR PLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2018AP203-W

STATE OF WISCONSIN EX REL. EZEQUIEL LOPEZ-QUINTERO,

Petitioner,

v.

MICHAEL A. DITTMANN,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM A DENIAL OF A
PETITION FOR A WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS,
THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II,
PRESIDING

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARA L. MELE Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-5809 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) melekl@doj.state.wi.us

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

ARGUMENT

Lopez-Quintero has not met his high burden of showing that the court of appeals' decision in *Smalley* is objectively wrong.

Lopez-Quintero does not argue that he made a prompt and speedy request for relief under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.51 when he sought reinstatement of his direct appeal rights over nine years after his conviction for first-degree intentional homicide. Instead, he contends that the prompt and speedy filing requirement for habeas petitioners should not exist. His appeal thus entirely depends on his ability to show this Court that *Smalley*'s interpretation of Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.51 is objectively wrong—a burden he fails to recognize. (Lopez-Quintero's Br. 9.) Since canons of statutory construction and case law support the court of appeals' decision in *Smalley*, this Court should affirm.

Moreover, if this Court chooses to determine whether Lopez-Quintero made a prompt and speedy request for relief despite his forfeiture of the issue, it should conclude that he did not and likewise affirm.

Finally, despite what Lopez-Quintero contends, he still has avenues for postconviction relief.

A. Relevant law

1. Appellate procedure

"Upon conviction, a defendant has a statutory right to seek postconviction relief through a postconviction motion or an appeal." State ex rel. Kyles v. Pollard, 2014 WI 38, ¶ 21, 354 Wis. 2d 626, 847 N.W.2d 805. To ensure a meaningful opportunity to exercise that right, "[e]very convicted criminal defendant must be properly informed of the right to appeal." State ex rel. Flores v. State, 183 Wis. 2d 587, 603, 516 N.W.2d 362 (1994). At sentencing, both the circuit court

and trial counsel have a duty to inform the defendant of this right. *Id.*; Wis. Stat. § 973.18. Proper notice includes guidance on how to initiate postconviction relief. Specifically, the court must direct the defendant and trial counsel to sign a form stating that the "defendant understands that a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief must be filed in the trial court within 20 days after sentencing for [the right to appeal] to be preserved." Wis. Stat. § 973.18(3).

If the defendant wishes to appeal, it is trial counsel's duty to file the notice of intent. Kyles, 354 Wis. 2d 626, ¶¶ 21–22 (citing Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.30(2)(b)). Trial counsel's failure to do so constitutes ineffective assistance. Flores, 183 Wis. 2d at 615.

The procedures for filing a postconviction motion and a direct appeal—set forth in Wis. Stat. §§ 974.02 and (Rule) 809.30—contemplate a timely filed notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. Where that does not occur, two options exist to remedy the failure to timely file the notice of intent by reinstating the defendant's direct appeal rights.

First, the defendant may file a motion to extend time to file a postconviction motion or appeal with the court of appeals under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.82(2). *Kyles*, 354 Wis. 2d 626, ¶ 22. The defendant must show good cause for the motion. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.82(2). The court of appeals is generally lenient about granting these extensions. *State v. Quakenbush*, 2005 WI App 2, ¶ 11, 278 Wis. 2d 611, 692 N.W.2d 340. But the longer the defendant waits to request one, the more difficult it becomes to show good cause. *Id.* Also, if the defendant's alleged good cause is ineffective assistance, he usually must avail himself of the next option, which is a procedure more conducive to deciding substantive rights. *Kyles*, 354 Wis. 2d 626, ¶¶ 39–46.

Second, the defendant could try to reinstate his direct appeal rights by filing a petition for a writ of habeas corpus in the court of appeals alleging ineffective assistance for the failure to timely file the notice of intent. Kyles, 354 Wis. 2d 626, ¶¶ 38–39. This is known as a $Knight^2$ petition. The court of appeals may hear these petitions because "[h]abeas corpus is a prerogative writ" and "[t]he court of appeals has original jurisdiction to issue prerogative writs." State ex rel. McCaffrey v. Shanks, 124 Wis. 2d 216, 219, 369 N.W.2d 743 (Ct. App. 1985) (citing Wis. Const. art. VII, § 5(3)). And since the procedure for obtaining a prerogative writ in the court of appeals is set forth in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.51, the defendant files a Knight petition under that statute. See, e.g., Smalley, 211 Wis. 2d at 796. See also Michael S. Heffernan, Appellate Practice & Procedure in Wisconsin § 19.25, at 30 (6th ed. 2014) (citing State ex rel. LeFebre v. Abrahamson, 103 Wis. 2d 197, 202, 307 N.W.2d 186 (1981)) ("When a petition for habeas corpus is filed in an appellate court, the procedure for supervisory³ writ is followed.").

² In *State v. Knight*, this Court held that the appropriate vehicle of relief for a criminal defendant to claim ineffective assistance of appellate counsel is to file a petition for a writ of habeas corpus with the appellate court that considered the appeal. *State v. Knight*, 168 Wis. 2d 509, 512–13, 484 N.W.2d 540 (1992). Although a defendant claiming ineffective assistance for failure to file a notice of intent alleges an error that occurred at the circuit court, not the court of appeals, this Court has held that a *Knight* petition is nevertheless proper because only the court of appeals can remedy the error by extending the relevant deadline. *State ex rel. Kyles v. Pollard*, 2014 WI 38, ¶¶ 36–38, 354 Wis. 2d 626, 847 N.W.2d 805.

³ Wisconsin Stat. § (Rule) 809.51 sets forth the procedure for obtaining both supervisory and prerogative writs.

As discussed in greater detail below, the court of appeals has discretion to deny a *Knight* petition ex parte or to order a response from the State before deciding whether to issue the writ, which is an extraordinary remedy in Wisconsin. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.51(2); *State v. Pozo*, 2002 WI App 279, ¶ 8, 258 Wis. 2d 796, 654 N.W.2d 12.

2. Habeas corpus

"Writ of *habeas corpus* is an equitable remedy that protects a person's right to personal liberty by freeing him or her from illegal confinement." *Pozo*, 258 Wis. 2d 796, ¶ 8. "It arises in common law and is guaranteed by the state and federal constitutions, as well as by statute." *Id.* (footnotes omitted). "Although a habeas corpus petition normally arises out of criminal proceedings, it is a separate civil action founded upon principles of equity." *State ex rel. Fuentes v. Wis. Ct. of App., Dist. IV*, 225 Wis. 2d 446, 450, 593 N.W.2d 48 (1999).

Habeas corpus exists "to provide a prompt and effective judicial remedy" for illegal confinement. *Smalley*, 211 Wis. 2d at 802 (citation omitted). *See also State ex rel. Haas v. McReynolds*, 2002 WI 43, ¶ 11, 252 Wis. 2d 133, 643 N.W.2d 771 (habeas corpus "is available to a petitioner when there is a pressing need for relief or where the process or judgment by which a petitioner is held is void"). Because it grants extraordinary relief, it "is only available where specific factual circumstances are present." *Fuentes*, 225 Wis. 2d at 451. The petitioner must show "(1) restraint of his or her liberty, (2) which restraint was imposed⁴ contrary to

⁴ As noted, the defendant may use the writ procedure to raise issues not directly related to the imposition of sentence. Knight, 168 Wis. 2d at 512–13; Kyles, 354 Wis. 2d 626, ¶¶ 38–39.

constitutional protections or by a body lacking jurisdiction and (3) no other adequate remedy available at law." Pozo, 258 Wis. 2d 796, ¶ 8. See also Coleman, 290 Wis. 2d 352, ¶ 18.

In Wisconsin, there are no strict time limits for when a person can petition for a writ of habeas corpus. Historically, there were no strict time limits on federal habeas petitioners, either. United States v. Smith, 331 U.S. 469, 475 (1947) ("habeas corpus provides a remedy for jurisdictional and constitutional errors at the trial without limit of time"). But cf. Collins v. Byrd, 510 U.S. 1185, 1288 (1994) (Scalia, J., dissenting) (citing McCleskey v. Zant, 499 U.S. 467, 489 (1991)) (arguing that because a court has broad equitable discretion to assert jurisdiction over a habeas petition, "the petitioner's delay in filing is a factor the court may consider"). Eventually, federal "[c]ourts invoked the doctrine of 'prejudicial delay' to screen out unreasonably late filings." Day v. McDonough, 547 U.S. 198, 202 n.1 (2006). In other words, federal courts dismissed habeas petitions untimeliness where the government could prove laches—an inability to defend against the claims raised in the habeas petition. See Brecht v. Abrahamson, 507 U.S. 619, 637 (1993). Wisconsin courts have likewise utilized the doctrine of laches to dismiss habeas petitions. See State ex rel. McMillian v. Dickey, 132 Wis. 2d 266, 281, 392 N.W.2d 453

Federal law is in accord. See Thompson v. United States, 536 F.2d 459 (1976) (proper vehicle for attacking execution of sentence is writ of habeas corpus under 28 U.S.C. § 2241). Thus, it seems more appropriate to say that, "[i]n Wisconsin, the writ of habeas corpus may be employed to review violations of substantial constitutional rights." State ex rel. Kelley v. Posner, 91 Wis. 2d 301, 303, 282 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1979).

(Ct. App. 1986), abrogated on other grounds by Coleman, 290 Wis. 2d 352.

Notably, the lack of a time limit on federal habeas petitions was not without criticism, see Lonchar v. Thomas, 517 U.S. 314, 328 (1996), in part because "the well-recognized interest in the finality of state court judgments" has always been a guiding principle of habeas corpus jurisprudence. Duncan v. Walker, 533 U.S. 167, 179 (2001). See also McCleskey, 499 U.S. at 491. This interest led Congress, through the Antiterrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act of 1996 (AEDPA), to pass a one-year statute of limitations for state prisoners to file federal habeas corpus petitions, which "reduces the potential for delay on the road to finality by restricting the time that a federal habeas petitioner has in which to seek federal habeas review." Duncan, 533 U.S. at 179. See also 28 U.S.C. § 2244(d)(1).

Because "[e]quitable principles' have traditionally 'governed' the substantive law of habeas corpus," the United States Supreme Court has stated that it "will 'not construe a statute to displace courts' traditional equitable authority absent the "clearest command." Holland v. Florida, 560 U.S. 631, 646 (2010) (citations omitted). Thus, the Court has held that the one-year statute of limitations for federal habeas petitions is subject to equitable tolling, even though the statute contains no such exception to its general rule. Id. at 649. Equitable tolling requires the petitioner to show that

⁵ "Throughout the Seventeenth and Eighteenth centuries, prisoners in England sought the Great Writ primarily from a common law court—the Court of King's Bench—but that court's exercise of power to issue the writ was built around equitable principles." Erica Hashimoto, *Reclaiming the Equitable Heritage of Habeas*, 108 Nw. U. L. Rev. 139 (2013).

he pursued his rights diligently and that some extraordinary circumstance prevented the timely filing of his petition. *Id*.

The statute of limitations for federal habeas petitions thus focuses on the petitioner's conduct, "a factor that traditionally has been an equitable consideration." Erica Hashimoto, *Reclaiming the Equitable Heritage of Habeas*, 108 Nw. U. L. Rev. 139, 155–162 (2013). See also McClesky, 499 U.S. at 490 (citation omitted) ("In habeas, equity recognizes that 'a suitor's conduct in relation to the matter at hand may disentitle him to the relief that he seeks.""). In fact, most of the procedural limitations on federal habeas petitions—created by courts and later codified by Congress—center on the petitioner's conduct. Hashimoto, *Reclaiming the Equitable Heritage of Habeas*, 108 Nw. U. L. Rev. at 145–57.

While "Wisconsin's rules on when a state habeas may be filed are more liberal than those applicable to federal habeas" because there is no statute of limitations, Coleman, 290 Wis. 2d 352, ¶¶ 24 n.5, 25, Wisconsin courts of equity still focus on a petitioner's conduct in deciding whether to grant relief. Visser v. Koenders, 6 Wis. 2d 535, 538, 95 N.W.2d 363 (1959) ("Equity has a well-known maxim that equitable relief will be denied to a complainant who has slept on his rights."); Coleman, 290 Wis. 2d 352, ¶ 25 ("equitable remedies are not available to one whose own inaction results in the harm"). This principle plays out in a variety of contexts and calls for a balancing of the competing goals of fairness and finality. See, e.g., Smalley, 211 Wis. 2d at 800–03 (denying habeas petition as untimely because of inexcusable delay); Edland v. Wis. Phys. Serv. Ins. Co., 210 Wis. 2d 638, 644–48, 563 N.W.2d 519 (1997) (circuit court properly extended deadline to civil appeal due to excusable delay).

The takeaway is that, like federal courts, Wisconsin courts resort to common-law equitable principles to decide whether to grant habeas relief. The petitioner's conduct is an important factor in the analysis, along with considerations of fairness and finality.

3. Wisconsin Stat. § (Rule) 809.51

As noted, a defendant seeking a writ of habeas corpus from the court of appeals proceeds under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.51, governing supervisory and prerogative writs. *See Coleman*, 290 Wis. 2d 352, ¶ 18. The petition must contain: (1) a "statement of the issues presented by the controversy," (2) a "statement of the facts necessary to an understanding of the issues," (3) the "relief sought," and (4) the "reasons why the court should take jurisdiction." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.51(1).

The statute gives the appellate court broad discretion to issue the writ. See State ex rel. Dressler v. Cir. Ct. for Racine Cty., 163 Wis. 2d 622, 630, 472 N.W.2d 532 (Ct. App. 1991). Under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.51(2), "[t]he court may deny the petition ex parte or may order the defendants to file a response." If the court orders a response, the respondent "may file a letter stating that he or she does not intend to file a response, but the petition is not thereby admitted." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.51(2). After considering the petition and any other submissions, the appellate court "may grant or deny the petition or order such additional proceedings as it considers appropriate." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.51(3).

The statute does not state what grounds are necessary for the issuance of a supervisory or prerogative writ. But case law informs the appellate court's decision. Because a petitioner under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.51 seeks equitable relief, the decision whether to issue the extraordinary writ is governed by equitable principles. State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir.

Ct. for Dane Cty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 17, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. Different standards apply depending on the type of writ at issue.

For supervisory writs, the petitioner must show that "(1) an appeal is an inadequate remedy; (2) grave hardship or irreparable harm will result; (3) the duty of the trial court is plain and it must have acted or intends to act in violation of that duty; and (4) the request for relief is made promptly and speedily." Kalal, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 17 (emphasis added). See also State ex rel. Two Unnamed Petitioners v. Peterson, 2015 WI 85, ¶ 80, 363 Wis. 2d 1, 866 N.W.2d 165. Regarding the latter requirement, "[t]he more time that elapses after the action complained of, the less likely the court will be to hear the claim." Heffernan, Appellate Practice & Procedure in Wisconsin § 10.3, at 4.

For prerogative writs—specifically, the writ of habeas corpus—the petitioner must show the three requirements noted above. *Coleman*, 290 Wis. 2d 352, ¶ 18. And, like supervisory writs, a petitioner seeking a writ of habeas corpus must show a prompt and speedy request for relief. *Smalley*, 211 Wis. 2d at 802.

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